1960

Nickerson Pump & Machinery Co., Inc. v. State Tax Commission of Utah : Brief of Plaintiff

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1.

Nature of the Case

This is an original proceeding, initiated pursuant to 59-15-14, 15 and 16 and 59-16-11 - 13 UCA (1953), wherein plaintiff challenges the validity of a deficiency tax assessment imposed (R. 108, Ex. 1) and affirmed (R. 126-129) by

defendant.¹ The assessment is based upon fourteen transactions wherein plaintiff sold and emplaced water pumps for governmental units exempted from sales tax liability.

The primary issue is whether plaintiff is the *consumer* of water pump assemblies sold and emplaced by it under contracts specifying a single price for pump and emplacement. Defendant says it is, and—as to parts of such assemblies—that plaintiff should be charged with use or sales tax depending upon whether title passed within or without Utah.

If this Court adopts defendant's position (thereby overruling, or at least modifying, past Utah decisions), two subsidiary issues arise: whether various items within the assessment were correctly included; and whether defendant properly imposed penalties (including interest at 12% per annum). These subsidiary issues will require consideration of areas in which defendant's decision departs from stipulations at formal hearing.

By paragraph 3 of its petition for Writ of Certiorari and for Review, plaintiff also has complained of evidentiary rulings at formal hearing before defendant (note particularly R. 36-37, 74-76, 122, Ex. 15).

The amount of tax in question, while considerable, is not staggering. Despite this, a decision favorable to defendant would, as precedent, have important economic consequences. In the short view, it would subject all other Utah water pump

¹No objection is lodged against the imposition of the sales tax specified at Exhibit A, Schedule 1 of the deficiency notice, as amended, amounting to \$56.00 plus interest; as to such segment, however, plaintiff protests the imposition of penalties (including interest at 12% per annum). It will be noted that the credit to plaintiff for bad debts exceeds the tax deficiency hereby conceded. If bad debts are set-off only against tax deficiencies arising in the same year, the conceded deficiency is \$4.84 plus interest at 6% per annum.

dealers to deficiency assessments—complete with interest and penalties—of the type here challenged.² Patently, this would constitute, in arid Utah, a large sum. The gain to the State would be diminished somewhat by the cost of auditing the books of other dealers and by claims for refund of sales tax erroneously collected by such dealers from private lump-sum buyers on the assumption that the buyers were consumers. In the long term, the revenue of the State would be reduced. Governmental units would insist that separate contracts be entered into for, respectively, sale and emplacement. Otherwise, the cost to the unit would be increased by the cost of the sales and use tax paid by the dealer; that cost, of course, would be passed on to any lump-sum public buyer.³ But private persons would insist that water pump purchases be made under lump-sum contracts. In this manner, they would absorb only the tax paid by the dealer and passed on to them rather than the tax on the sales price to them. This would afford private buyers an advantage in that their actual cost would be reduced by the amount of the sales and use tax percentage (currently 2% or 2½%) times the dealer's mark-up over wholesale.

Plaintiff has assigned (Petition for Writ of Certiorari and for Review, par. 3) as error the incompleteness of defendant's findings (R. 126-128), and ~~to~~ the fact that they express bare ultimate conclusions of law. It is apparent from their reading

²Defendant excluded some evidence of trade practice (R. 36-37, 74-75, 122, Ex. 15). The testimony of witnesses Nickerson, Richards, Templeton and Hilbert, however, establishes that there has been uniform treatment by the industry (R. 66-67, 68-69, 72, 77-78, 95). If there be any doubt of this, it is negated by the firm assurances of public buyers that tax payments were not requisite (R. 44-46, 74, 109-110, Ex. 2-3; R. 118-119, Ex. 11-12), which assurances seemingly were buttressed by the then practical interpretation of defendants (R. 63, 97-98).

³Such procedure has been used subsequent to service of the instant assessment (R. 47).

and a comparison of them with plaintiff's pleading (R. 13-16) that such findings do not approach adequacy, see *Thomas v. Farrell*, 82 Utah 535, 26 P.2d 328, 330 (1936); 73 C.J.S., *Public Administrative Bodies and Procedure* §152 at page 486. Inasmuch as full appellate understanding of the questions presented may be had from a reading of the pleadings and record, plaintiff does not urge that remand to defendant for proper findings is requisite, 5 *Moore's Federal Practice* 2662-64.

The true significance of the inadequacy of defendant's findings is that they are reflective of the inadequacy of defendant's determination.

2.

Evidentiary Facts of Record

At formal hearing, defendant produced two witnesses, Paul M. Holt, its chief auditor, (R. 20-29) and A. C. Goates, its audit supervisor, (R. 97-98). Plaintiff called an adverse witness, William H. Buttolph, the commission auditor initially responsible for the instant deficiency assessment, (R. 30-41). Plaintiff's case-in-chief consisted of the testimony, largely stipulated, of R. H. Nickerson, its president, (R. 41-66; R. 75-97), A. Z. Richards, Sr. (R. 66-70) and Win Templeton (R. 70-73), both civil engineers specializing in the development of water wells and whose firms were responsible for the drawing of specifications for a substantial proportion of the sales here in question, and of Robert Hilbert, manager of the Salt Lake County Water Conservancy District, (R. 73-74). In addition, 17 exhibits were admitted, one rejected (R. 108-125).

The facts elicited were, in large measure, undisputed. In

those cases where dispute, real or imagined, existed, plaintiff will support its recitation by footnote.

Plaintiff and its predecessor sole proprietorship and partnership have been in the business for about thirty-six years. It is a dealer in pumping and allied equipment, specializing in water pumps. At all times here important, it held a Utah retail sales license (R. 42).

Three types of pumps are sold by it: submersible deep well pumps, deep well line shaft pumps, and booster pumps (R. 47). The former two types service wells which range in depth up to 1,000 feet; the wells in question are between 400 and 700 feet deep (R. 78). A pamphlet regarding submersible deep well pumps was introduced as Exhibit 7 (R. 114). Their distinguishing characteristic is that their motor is below water level, at the end of the pump shaft (R. 49). A pamphlet regarding deep well line shaft pumps was introduced as Exhibit 6 (R. 113). Their distinguishing characteristic is that their motor is on the top of the pump, at or about ground level (R. 49). Such pumps will produce from 200 to 4,500 gallons of culinary water per minute (R. 78, 92). Such pumps, including their extension pipes, range in weight from 700 pounds up to eighteen tons (R. 81). The deep well line shaft may be either water or oil cooled (R. 80-81). A pamphlet regarding booster pumps was introduced as Exhibit 9 (R. 116). While the purpose of deep well pumps is to bring water from a well to a water line, the purpose of a booster pump is to give pressure to the water as it goes thorough the line (R. 52). The booster pump is connected to the pipes at ground level (R. 52, 116, Ex. 9, p. 7). Plaintiff assembles booster pumps prior to emplacement (R. 51).

Because of the weight and bulk of the pumps, buyers are unable to emplace them in wells. As a "necessary evil" of the business of selling pumps, plaintiff emplaces them in the majority of instances. Plaintiff owns and operates a crane for the purpose of emplacing deep well pumps. Emplacement is not a profit item, being done at cost. Those of plaintiff's competitors who do not have the facilities for emplacement hire subcontractors to do so (R. 43, 73, 77-78).

Plaintiff and its competitors sell and emplace both for public and private buyers. Some 70% of plaintiff's sales are to private individuals. In none of its dealings, private or public, is there an express agreement as to whether the pump assembly, after emplacement, will be realty or personalty (R. 75-76). The security device used by plaintiff on private sales is the title retaining or conditional sales contract, under which it has effected repossessions. It has never filed a mechanic's lien (R. 44,75). Both plaintiff and its competitors charge sales tax to private persons. When a lump sum contract is used, sales tax on the entire amount, including installation, is charged private buyers, as required by defendant's regulations (R. 43-44, 46-47, 67-68, 102-105). Auditor Buttolph did not object to plaintiff's method of dealing with private contracts, although the collection of sales tax, rather than the payment of use tax, on plaintiff's lump sum contracts with private buyers would be improper under defendant's theory.⁴

⁴Defendant may dispute this statement. Although auditor Buttolph's testimony was, admittedly, evasive and contradictory, the following is clear: (a) according to both Buttolph and his superior, Holt, Buttolph covered all public and private sales files of plaintiff (R. 24, 30-31); (b) plaintiff has filed no use tax return (R. 31-32, 34); (c) according to Buttolph, plaintiff owed no tax upon its private transactions (R. 33, 35). Plaintiff concludes that auditor Buttolph's auditing endeavors were practical, not conceptualistic, that the test employed was one of increased revenue rather than increased consistency, and that auditor

Plaintiff's contracts with public buyers likewise are both separate and lump sum (R. 44, 90). In this connection it will be noted that defendant amended its assessment to delete certain non lump sum contracts (R. 108, Ex. 1, page 4), and that one of the sales here involved, Midvale City, No. 8833, was not under a lump sum contract (R. 60-61). Plaintiff, considering that the buyer—not it—*consumes* pumps, and in view of the fact that public buyers are exempt from sales tax, has not charged sales tax to such buyers nor has it paid use tax (R. 44).

The usual chronology of plaintiff's sales is as follows:

1. The engineer for the buyer, public or private, prepares an invitation to bid and specifications, outlining in detail the type or types of pumps needed, and whether or not a lump sum bid is sought (R. 46, 66, 70, 79). Examples of specifications appear as Exhibits 3, 16 and 17 (R. 110, 123-124).

2. Plaintiff bids according to the specifications. Prior to making its bid, plaintiff prepares a computation sheet which is retained in its files. This computation sheet shows clearly the cost of labor added to the bid. This cost, not a profit item, is computed on the basis of \$90.00 per day, for the emplacing equipment and a crew of two to three men. This cost is not a variable item—expected profit, not cost items such as emplace-ment, are reduced if competition demands (R. 43, 46-47, 90-91).

3. If the contract is awarded it, plaintiff then orders the specified pumps and ancillary equipment from its suppliers.

Buttolph's activities and testimony are an example of "the edacious minotaur, tax", referred to in a recent dissenting opinion, *Pender v. Alix*, Utah, 354 P.2d 1066, 1070 (1960).

Plaintiff normally does not store pumps. All such suppliers either are wholesalers or supply plaintiff at wholesale prices. Byron Jackson deep well and Aurora booster pumps are specialty goods, manufactured to specification. The goods are shipped either to plaintiff or the well site. Except for Cutler Hammer, shipping costs are prepaid by the seller. Byron Jackson specifies that title passes f.o.b. factory, California, but no other seller specifies where or when title passes. Resale certificates are given in-state sellers, but not out-of-state sellers (R. 55, 93-95).

4. Prior to emplacement of deep well pumps, the buyer, acting individually or through an independent contractor other than plaintiff, digs and lines the water well with casing (R. 47, 49, 78-79). The cost of the buyer's digging the wells, defendant's counsel elicited, is \$1.10 to \$1.20 per foot per inch of diameter (R. 78). The buyer, not plaintiff, also builds a concrete foundation around the mouth of the well, and builds a water line extending toward the pump (R. 47-48, 81, 82). Exhibits 4 and 5 show a water well prepared for emplacement (R. 48, 111-112).

5. In the emplacement of a deep well pump, plaintiff's crane lowers it and its pipe into the prepared well. As the pump base or platform reaches the prepared foundation, plaintiff is careful to align it, making it plumb. This is done by grouting the foundation with cement to even it. Plaintiff lubricates the pump base or platform so that it will not be cemented to the foundation, such cementing being "the last thing you would want." If a submersible pump is used, a specially prepared cable is also lowered into the well to furnish power to the motor. If a well is flowing, tending to seep,

the pump platform is bolted to a flange attached to the well casing, thereby "sealed." This is not done if the well does not flow. On occasion, plaintiff bolts an electric panel to a near-by wall and attaches the pump's cable to it; all pumps here involved use electric power. The outlet of the pump is attached, perhaps by a metal band, to the buyer's main (R. 48-51, 81-86, 93, 95). Exhibits 6-8 illustrate the emplacement of pumps (R. 113-115).

6. A booster pump is emplaced and bolted on a cement foundation and attached to pipes prepared for its connection by the buyer (R. 51-52). Exhibit 9, page 7 illustrates an emplaced booster pump (R. 51, 116).

7. The engineers in charge supervise the emplacement of all pumps (R. 67, 70). The pumps, after emplacement, retain their identity as pumps (R. 55-56).

8. Plaintiff does not ever use the pump to pump water. The buyer does this (R. 54).

Detailed descriptions of each transaction here involved are contained at R. 56-63. Each, except Midvale City, No. 8833, was performed under a lump sum contract; the exception concerns a pump sold without any agreement whatever for emplacement, and an agreement three months later that plaintiff would emplace such pump (R. 60-61, 120, Ex. 13). On the lump sum contracts, plaintiff's computation sheets show that the percentage of labor cost in the contract price ranged from 2.7% (Salt Lake County Water Conservancy District deep well line shaft 10703, R. 62) to 6.8% (Logan City Corporation, 9282, R. 62). The following transactions involved submersible deep well pumps in non-flowing wells which, therefore, were

not bolted to a flange: Midvale City, 8271; Tooele, 8603; Metropolitan Water District, 9237. The following transactions involved submersible pumps which were so bolted: University of Utah, 8541; Salt Lake County Water Conservancy District, 8921; City of Fillmore, 9164; Salt Lake County Water Conservancy District, 9067; South Salt Lake City, 10481. The following transactions involved deep well line shaft pumps, all so bolted: Town of North Salt Lake, 8596; Salt Lake County Water Conservancy District, 10703. The following transactions involved booster pumps: Salt Lake County Water Conservancy District, 8921; Logan City Corporation, 9282; Salt Lake County Water Conservancy District 10703.

Plaintiff's case was, thus, presented by the testimony or stipulated testimony of representatives of the parties to the usual transaction of sale, the dealer (Mr. Nickerson), the buyer (Mr. Hilbert) and the consulting engineer (Mr. Richards and Mr. Templeton). The testimony of each was demonstrative of the fact that the parties do not, and could not reasonably, intend that pump assemblies become permanent additions to the well, the pipes or to the realty upon which they are situate (R. 53-54, 67-68, 71-74, 79-80, 86-87). First, pumps are quite often removed for repair. Such repair is not at all unusual in this area, where wells tend to be sandy. It is impossible to repair any deep well or the motor of a submersible without removing the pump from the well. The surface motor of a line shaft pump may be repaired while the pump remains in the well. Repair is more likely for the pump than for the motor inasmuch as the pump's bearings, spaced every ten feet, are subjected to considerable wear. Assuming optimum conditions (no sandy or hard water), seldom extant in Utah,

the maximum life of a pump is 20 years. It is recommended that, even though no difficulty is apparent in its operation, a deep well pump be removed every 5-7 years for a preventive maintenance check (R. 53, 67, 71, 73, 79-80, 86-87). Secondly, deep well pumps are removed when repair to the well or well lining is required (R. 53, 673). Third, pumps are removed when the well's potential is exhausted (R. 71). Fourth, pumps are removed when it is desired to develop the facility in question to its full potential. It is usual for a well to be developed by the engineer in charge to a given potential and to emplace a pump with a lesser potential. This is because the area to be served may not, at the time of emplacement, have need for the well's full potential. As the need increases, the former pump is removed, and either used elsewhere or traded in. A given well can receive various sized pumps. An example of this procedure is Midvale City, No. 8276, one of the transactions here in question (R. 53-54, 56, 67, 71, 74, 95). Fifth, if the user has more than one facility, pumps are removed and interchanged to make use more fully of the potential of all facilities (R. 54, 71, 74). The need for removal is equivalent as between deep well and booster pumps (R. 72).

In view of the frequency of pump removal, water engineers such as Mr. Richards and Mr. Templeton design projects to facilitate pump removal (R. 67, 71). If a pumphouse is erected before or after the emplacement of the pump, it is invariably⁵ designed with a hatch to facilitate emplacement

⁵Auditor Buttolph, who professed knowledge of the pumping business, although he hadn't visited the sites in question, or interviewed the engineers or buyers involved in the subject transactions, would prefer the word "sometimes" (R. 35-38). It will be remembered, in evaluating his credibility, that it is Buttolph's assessment which is in question.

and removal (R. 52, 67, 71). No damage is caused to the real estate when the pump is removed, and it or a replacement pump may be emplaced in the same manner as were the well virgin. An example, once again, is Midvale City, No. 8276. Removal consists of unbolting and lifting the pump; the only thing broken is, perhaps, an inexpensive band on the connection between the pump and the water main (R. 54, 56, 67-68). Exhibit 10 illustrates the removal of a pump from a pump house (R. 53, 117).

In order to avoid duplication, the testimony of defendant's witnesses as to the propriety of penalties (including 12% per annum interest) will be deferred until the appropriate portion of plaintiff's argument, as will defendant's departure from two at-hearing stipulated amendments to the deficiency assessment.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

- I. Plaintiff does not consume pumps.
- II. Penalties were improperly assessed.
- III. Certain items of the assessment were incorrectly imposed.

ARGUMENT

I.

PLAINTIFF DOES NOT CONSUME PUMPS.

A.

BOTH SALES TAX AND USE TAX ARE TAXES ON THE CONSUMER.

Sales tax is a levy upon the consumer of personal property, *E. C. Olsen Co. v. State Tax Commission*, 109 Utah 563, 168 P 2d 324, 326 (1946). So is use tax, 59-16-3, UCA (1953). The two taxes are correlative and complementary, the latter having been passed for the purpose of removing "the theretofore existing discrimination in favor of out-of-state merchants," *Union Portland Cement Company v. State Tax Commission*, 110 Utah 135, 170 P. 2d 164 (1946), *modified on rehearing*, 110 Utah 152, 176 P. 2d 879, 881 (1947); *Geneva Steel Co. v. State Tax Commission*, 116 Utah 170, 209 P. 2d 208 (1949). If goods are purchased in-state by a consumer, the sales tax applies, see *Western Leather & Finding Co. v. Sales Tax Commission*, 87 Utah 227, 48 P. 2d 526 (1935). If goods are purchased out-of-state by an in-state consumer and no tax is owing or has been paid previously, the use tax applies, *Ford J. Twaits Co. v. State Tax Commission*, 106 Utah 343, 148 P. 2d 343 (1944).

The key term is "consumer."⁶ If plaintiff, in sale and emplacement, is a consumer, it should pay tax on materials to be consumed—sales tax if title to the materials passes to it in this state, use tax if title passes out of state. If a private buyer of a pump assembly is the consumer, he should pay sales tax. If a public buyer of a pump assembly is the consumer, no tax is paid because of the exemption provided by 59-15-6

⁶We are not here concerned with the sales tax on certain "services," 59-15-4 (b)(1)(2)(e)(f)(g), UCA (1959 Supp.), a fact of which defendant's counsel at hearing apparently was not fully aware (R. 77). Nor does plaintiff, in this case, despite the power of the legislature to impose a tax upon any "service" it may perform in the emplacement of pump assemblies, *Howe v. Tax Commission*, 10 Utah 2d 362, 353 P.2d 468 (1960); *Francom v. State Tax Commission*, No. 9271 (Utah, 1960). Plaintiff simply contends that it is not a consumer within the meaning of the tax laws currently applicable to its business.

UCA (1953) as implemented by Sales Tax Regulation 54 (R. 103-104).

Put another way: if, in the transactions here involved, plaintiff consumed the pump assemblies⁷ in question, it is subject to sales or use tax, whether the buyer is private or public. If, on the other hand, the buyer is the consumer, private buyers should pay sales tax (to be collected by the seller) and public buyers should pay no tax at all.

B.

UTAH DECISIONS PROVIDE DEFINITION OF THE TERM "CONSUMER."

On three occasions since legislative imposition of the sales tax, L. 1933, ch. 63, this Court has had occasion to define the meaning of the term "consumer," *Western Leather & Finding Co.*, supra; *Utah Concrete Products Corp. v. State Tax Commission*, 101 Utah 513, 125 P.2d 408 (1942); *Union Portland Cement Co. v. State Tax Commission*, 110 Utah 135, 170 P.2d 164 (1946), two of which were decided after enactment of the original use tax, L. 1937, ch. 114.

In *Western Leather & Finding Co.*, defendant had assessed plaintiff with sales tax liability for leather and shoe findings sold by it to Utah shoe repairers. After noting that plaintiff was liable only if the repairers were "consumers," this Court turned, at 48 P.2d 528, to Webster's New International Dictionary for the definition of "consume":

⁷The process of assembling the pumps from component parts is a "manufacturing" or "compounding for sale" within the meaning of 59-15-2 and 59-16-4, UCA (1953), hence not taxable as consumption.

"1. To destroy the substance of, esp. by fire;—formerly and still figuratively used of any destructive or wasting process, as evaporation, decomposition, and disease. 2. To spend wastefully; hence, to use up; expend; waste. 3. To use up (time) whether wastefully or usefully; as, hours consumed in reading. 4. To eat or drink up (food); devour. 5. To waste or burn away; to perish. Syn.—absorb, spend, squander, dissipate."

It was then held:

"A person who places shoes, heels, and patches on old shoes does not consume material within the definitions above quoted or within the meaning of the statute. The consumer is the person who wears the shoes after they are repaired."

In *Utah Concrete Products Corp.*, sale tax was held to be applicable to purchases by road and building contractors from a supplier of concrete pipe, cinder blocks and related products. Such pipe, blocks and products were incorporated "as one of many units which go to make up buildings, structures, or roads," *id* at 125 P. 2d 410. This Court noted that the road and building contractors did not purchase the products

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