1961

# Nickerson Pump & Machinery Co., Inc. v. State Tax Commission of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

PETITIONER, NICKERSON PUMP AND MACHINERY CO., IS A CONSUMER.

The question is fundamentally as stated by the petitioner on page 13 of its brief. If the petitioner in the

sale and emplacement of pumps and pumping equipment under a lump-sum contract is the consumer, it should pay the tax on materials being consumed. In other words, the question is whether or not petitioner consumes the pump, motor and related equipment necessary to fill its lump-sum contract and to deliver an operating unit installed in the ground. In this regard there can be no question but that Nickerson is a consumer.

The petitioner contends that assembling pumps from component parts is "manufacturing" or "compounding for sale," and, further contends that manufacturing is not taxable as consumption. Error is committed here. Section 59-16-4 (h), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, does not exempt property consumed by a manufacturer as the last user. See *Union Portland Cement Co. v. State Tax Commission*, 110 Utah 135, 170 P. 2d 164 (1946). Therefore, even if Nickerson were a manufacturer, only the property which entered into and became an ingredient or component part of the property manufactured which was thus passed on to an *ultimate user* would be thereby exempt. The test is, "Are the articles involved consumed by the processor as the last user? If they are so consumed the tax must be paid thereon by the processor." *E. C. Olsen Co. v. State Tax Commission*, 109 Utah 563, 168 P. 2d 324 (1946).

Petitioner claims it is exempt from the tax in question because it manufactures or compounds for sale, but the test for the manufacturing exemption is whether or not the articles involved are consumed. Hence, petitioner



begs the question by claiming the manufacturing exemption.

Petitioner further contends that under the terms of Tax Commission Regulation 58, where the contractor enters into both lump-sum contracts and agreements to furnish materials and supplies at a fixed price and to render service for an additional price that he is deemed to be a retailer of tangible personal property and that the Commission should be bound by this determination. The Regulation provides that:

“In case a contractor enters into both of the above kinds of contracts, he shall be deemed to be a retailer of tangible personal property and *shall register with the State Tax Commission, obtain a sales tax license, purchase all materials for resale and report his liability direct to the State Tax Commission.*” (Emphasis supplied)

Petitioner suggests that this has been done and, therefore, that it is a retailer of tangible personal property. It is significant that Regulation 58 further provides:

*“Contractors or repairmen in no case should give a resale certificate when they purchase materials, supplies, equipment or other articles for their own use and consumption.”*

The plain import of Regulation 58 is to require contractors entering into both of the above kinds of contracts to obtain a sales tax license in order to properly collect tax and report their liability and pay sales tax on *retail sales*. The quoted parts of Regulation 58 are in no way designed to abrogate the lump-sum provisions of the

Regulation concerning contracts by contractors wherein the sale of materials and supplies is taxable to the contractor where he becomes the consumer or the final buyer.

Taxpayer, in the present case, contends that it does not consume pumps; that the buyers from it do consume them, and that the pump assemblies retain their identity after being installed under a lump-sum contract. The Tax Commission respectfully takes issue with these contentions. In particular Nickerson Pump and Machinery Co. did act as a consumer of purchases specified in Schedules 2 and 4 of the original deficiency assessment. Petitioner claims not to be a consumer, user or storer of the purchases involved and bases this claim upon a strict definition of the word "consumed." However, this as defined in the case of *Utah Concrete Products Corp. v. State Tax Commission*, 101 Ut. 513, 125 P. 2d 408 (1942), has been given a liberal construction. The court in that case said:

"From the context of our statute 'used' and 'consumed' may be said to express the same meaning — to make use of, to employ and does not necessarily mean the immediate destruction or extermination or change in form of the article or commodity."

It is not disputed that the transactions which resulted in an assessment by the State Tax Commission were those upon which the taxpayer bid and sold pumps, motors and related equipment under lump-sum contracts.

"Sales to contractors are sales to consumers \* \* \*."  
*State v. J. Watts Kearney & Sons*, 181 La. 554, 160 So. 78

(1934). See also *Volk v. Evatt*, 142 Ohio 335, 52 N.E. 2d 338 (1943).

“A contractor when fabricating personalty into realty neither sells, resells, sells at retail, nor can he be considered a retailer.” *Duhamel v. State Tax Commission*, 65 Ariz. 268, 179 P. 2d 252, 171 ALR 684 (1947).

According to the Utah Supreme Court the words “used” and “consumed” are synonymous. To construe either word to mean that the state may only tax the sale of property which is consumed or destroyed in use is to virtually annihilate the Act and give it a strained and unthought of meaning. Such a construction would immediately exclude diamond rings, luxuries and other things not destroyed or consumed immediately in use, from the realm of liability for sales and use taxes. It is suggested that this intention cannot be attributed to the legislature. However, even under the narrow definition as contended by taxpayer, the personal property used by the contractor was consumed and used under lump-sum contracts.

In addition to defining “consume” to mean “to destroy,” “to use up” and “to expend,” Webster’s New International Dictionary gives the following definitions:

“Consumer n. 1. One that consumes. 2. Economics. One who uses (economic) goods and so diminishes or destroys their utility; opposed to producer.”

“Consumption \* \* \* 2. Economics. The use of (economic) goods resulting in the diminution or destruction of their utility; — opposed to production. Consumption may consist in the active use of goods in such a manner as to accomplish their

direct and immediate destruction, as in eating food, wearing clothes, or burning fuel; or it may consist in the mere keeping, and enjoying the presence or prospect of, a thing, which is destroyed only by the gradual processes of natural decay, as in the maintenance of a picture gallery."

"Generally, it may be said that consumption means using things, and production means adapting them for use." See *J. W. Meadors & Co. v. State*, 89 Ga. App. 583, 80 S.E. 2d 86 (1954).

The problem of what is meant by "consume" was presented to the Colorado Supreme Court under a statute providing that a "retail sale" includes all sales made within the state except wholesale sales, and that "wholesale sale" means a sale by wholesalers to retail merchants, jobbers, dealers, or other wholesalers for resale and does not include a sale to "users or consumers, not for resale." It was held, in *Craftsmen Painters & Decorators v. Carpenter*, 111 Colo. 1, 137 P. 2d 414 (1942), that an administrative regulation in effect declaring that building contractors were users or consumers of materials and supplies used by them in performing building contracts was valid. And it was held that painting contractors were the users of paints, oils, finishes, and other incidental materials used by them in the business of painting contractors, and that electrical contractors were the users and consumers of wire, lighting fixtures, and incidental materials used in the business of electrical contracting. The court said:

"The problem presented to the director of revenue, briefly stated, was, Were plaintiffs the ulti-

mate users and consumers of the materials built into their jobs and furnished the owner as an entirety, or were they retailers to those owners of each particular item of personal property so built in? Stated otherwise, Were they selling to the owner the completed job, or were they selling him separately each pint of paint and each piece of wire used in the job? We think his conclusion that when they purchased the several items of personal property and built them into the structure as an integral part of their entire contract, and then disposed of the completed work to the owner, they were users and consumers and not retailers to the owner of each item, was not only a ruling within his discretion, but is absolutely irrefutable on any basis of logical reasoning, and that authority to support it is no more essential than is authority to support the conclusion that black is not white, or that two plus two equals four." See Note 163 A.L.R. p. 282.

It is urged that Nickerson can be nothing but a consumer under applicable statutes and judicial interpretations.

Petitioner further contends that the pumps, motors and related equipment which are the subject matter of this deficiency assessment are no less pumps and related equipment after emplacement than before, and contends that because of this fact petitioner is not a consumer. It becomes necessary to determine what is meant by a product losing its identity or being incorporated into a separate entity. In the *Utah Concrete Products* case, *Supra*, the Utah Supreme Court cites approvingly the case of *City of St. Louis v. Smith*, 342 Mo. 317, 114 S.W. 2d 1017 (1938), where under Retail Sales Statutes the

contractors in question were held liable for the tax as “consumers” and it was found to be the dealer’s duty to collect the tax at the time of sale. The court there said:

“It is clear from these statutory provisions that where one buys tangible personal property for his own use or consumption he is liable for the tax. On the other hand, it is equally clear that where one buys tangible personal property for the purpose of resale he is not liable for the tax. In this case, the contractors agreed with the city to furnish all the labor and material necessary to construct, and to construct the improvement in question for a fixed sum of money. It was necessary for the contractor to purchase and use all material necessary to complete said work in order to be in a position to deliver to the city a *completed structure as provided in the contract*. Our judgment is that it cannot be said by the contractor that he resold the materials to the city for its use, and then not use or consume them in the performance of his contract. We are not without authority on this question. In the case of *State v. Christhlf*, 170 Md. 586, 185 Atl. 456, 458 (1936), that court said: ‘It is the contractor or builder who is the ultimate user or consumer of the materials which in one of these cases are converted and fabricated into a building and in the other into a road.’

“Another authority, *State v. J. Watts Kearney & Sons*, 181 La. 554, 160 So. 77 (1954), is to the same effect. Speaking of sales of materials to contractors, that court said: ‘His undertaking is to deliver to his obligee some work or edifice or structure, the construction of which requires the application of skill and labor to these materials so that, when he finishes his task, the materials purchased are no longer to be distinguished but something has been wrought from their use and

union. The contractor has not resold, but has consumed the materials. Sales to contractors are sales to consumers.'

"Again, the case of *York Heating & Ventilating Co. v. Flannary*, 87 Pa. Suer. 19 (1936), that court said of the installation of a blower and heating system by contract: 'The contract in suit in no sense was a contract of sale. It was a construction contract. \* \* \* It would be just as proper to call a contract for the construction of a building, a sale of the stone, brick, cement, wood, etc., which entered into the erection of the building'

*"In our judgment the contractors in this case did not buy the materials in question for the purpose of reselling such materials to the city. They were under contract to deliver to the city the finished product. It was the inseparable comingling of labor and material that produced the finished product. Our conclusion is that the contractors used and consumed the material in order to produce the finished product in compliance with their contract."* (Emphasis supplied)

In the case of *Atlas Supply Co. v. Maxwell*, 212 N.C. 624, 194 S.E. 117 (1957), the court on holding plumbing and heating contractors subject to sales tax law stated that:

"They purchase the materials and supplies, not for resale as tangible personal property, but for use in producing the turnkey job. There is no resale of the materials and supplies as such, either actual or intended, within the meaning of the act."

See views expressed to the same effect in *Lone Star Cement Co. v. State Tax Commission*, 234 Ala. 465, 175 So. 399 (1937); *Albuquerque Lumber Co. v. Bureau of Rev-*

enue, 42 N.M. 58, 75 P. 2d 334 (1938); *State v. J. Watts Kearny & Sons*, 181 La. 554, 160 So. 77 (1934); *Herlihy Mid-Continent Co. v. Nudelman*, 367 Ill. 60, 12 N.E. 2d 638, 115 A.L.R. 491 (1938). All of which cases were cited in the *Utah Concrete Products* case at page 519.

It is submitted that an article of tangible personal property sold under a lump-sum construction contract to install the same thereby loses its identity in that what is finally sold is not personal property but is rather that article plus any other articles combined with the labor necessary to meet specifications under the lump-sum contract. This was considered in the case of *Harding v. Oklahoma Tax Commission*, 275 P. 2d 264 (1954), where it was held that the taxpayer did not sell a specific amount of cement, tile, lumber, etc., but rather he contracted to and did construct an airplane hangar, and if there was any contract of sale at all it was for the sale of a completed hangar and not for the various component parts thereof.

It is apparent that petitioner in this case is a consumer because it was the last person to deal with the products which it sold before they lost their identity as such and became incorporated into a separate entity.

## CONCLUSION

The petitioner did act as a consumer of articles in filling its lump-sum contracts with various governmental units.



The decision of the Tax Commission should be affirmed.